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“Hr that goes about to persuade mulhtudes that t‘ey are not so
‘well informed as they ought to be, in thmgs generally received and
deeply rooted, shall never want impatient hearers, “Becfuse men’s
natural mclmatlons are more prone to rest upon what they have
alread embraced and what for a long time hath had n® opposition,
than td be curious in the search after the truth thereof ; though it be
the truth.”’—Hookeg.



CONTENTS.

EDITOB’S L,I‘EFAOEIlll..l"I"lll.....ll.t.l.tlIl...Q..l'l.."‘......"'..l
InTrODUCTORY NOTICE OF SIR TaoMAS RUMBOLD .ciccevvecensse
AprpENDIX To Vor. I. oF MarsuMaN's ¢ HisTory oF BRITISH

" -
IND!A. L N N N R R R L R L]

CHAPTER I

PRESUDICES LONG OURRENT AMINST SIR TaHomas RuMBoLD.
THE OccAsION AND ORIGIN OF THEBE .vveveseesassessessences

CHAPTER dI.

ProCEEDINGS IN PARLIAMEN® AGAINST SIiR THomas Rumsorp.
THE Bint, 0F PAINS AND PENALTIES..vveivereecssveseaneasases

CHAPTER II1.

THE CHARGES AGAINST SIR THOMAS RUMBOLD .ccvveeevenennecs

CHAPTER IV.

- Tue Tuirp CHARGE: RELATING TOg THE SUSPENSION OF THE
CoMMITZEE of CIRCUIT, THE SUMMONING OF THE ZE-
MINDARS TO MADRAS, AND, IN PARTICULAR, THE TREAT-
MENT OF THE VIZIANAGRUM JFAMILY ... uceirineenroncennenses

CHAPTER V.

S1r Tuomas Romsorp’s Krrarions wite MR REDHEAD......

a2

PAGE

]

XV

Xxv

15

33

60

b8



1v CONTENTS.

CHAPTER VI.

THE EXTENDED LEASE OF THE JAGHIRE LANDS veeveerreneness o
CHAPTER VII.
Tue FourtH Cuarce. Sir Tromas Rumsorp's REeraTions
WITH MR. SADLETR .veueenrerrerrecrecrnsensoncons rremreeteanans .
o

CHAPTER VIII.

THE GUNToOR CIRCAR, BaZALET JUNG, AND THE Ni1zam. THE
ORIGINAT, Poricy ANp INsTRUcTiONS OF THE GOVERNOR-

GENERAL, 1775-177T7 cievrceccinccncns e ———

CHAPTER. IX.

Trarx Guxtoor Circar, Bazarct JoNg, AND THE «Nizem
Proceepings AFTER THE ARnivan oF MR. (Sin Tuosas)
RuMBoLD AT MADEAS, 1¥ 1778 cvivvrvernens F ———

CHAPTER X.

TaE TRIRUTE To THE NIZAM OF THE DECCAN .rivveivrerinneens

CHAPTER XI.

Tae EvipeExce oF MR. Francis as To THE CAUSES OF THE
WAR IN THE CABNATIO .icsusccesvessessananssassosssossansnvesss

CHAPTER XIIL

Tuae First Causes or Hyper’'s HosTiLE DProsecrs, 1778-
1780 ........ LR R R L L R N .

CHAPTER XIII.

Tue Finst Cavses Lr HYDER's HosTILE PRroJetTs, 1778~
1780. THE MIsREPRESENTATIONS OF CoLONEL WILKS..

74

80

100

124

161

174

183¢



CONTENTS.

CHAPTER XIV.

Tur Cavses or Hyper ALr's mostiLE ProsecTs, 1778-1780,
(conTinvED). Tone Rev. Mz. ScHwarTZ AND COLONEL

WILKB P R R ALY ssnssassvssvsoMasssoces sssescssren

CHAPTER XV,

Tue DirrFiconLTIES AND DISABILITIES IMPOSED UPON THE
Councir, o¥® Mapras By THE Poricy oF MR. HasTInGgs ..

CHAPTER XVI.

Sir Tuaomas RumBorp’'s DuparTUrRE FrROM MaAvras. His
RRPRESENTATIONS AS TO THE STATE OF AFFAIBS ..eceenes

CHAPTER XVII

n ] . ?
Estnacr rroM THE COSCLUDING Cuaprer oF MR. HARDINGE'S
.l)EFLNCE Olr SII‘ THOBL\S I{UMBOLB [ R Y N Y Y]

SUPPLEM¥(NTARY CHAPTER.

On Mg. Habrtines' PorLicY IN REGARL TO THE WAR WITH
Hyper, aANp oN H1s IRELATIONS WgrH StR “TreMAs
Rumsorp’'s Succkssors At Mapras, Mr. WHITRHILL
AND Loep MACARTNEY, AS ILLUSTRATING HIS TREATMENT
oF Sir THoMAS RUMBOLD sssessssssmvsnsssssossismusensvenises

APPENDIX oF STATEMENTS AND DOCUMENTS seeereecncescessde

PAGE

194

k22

236

250

R92

313



ERRATA.

Omit * Note 1,” in the Foot-Note on p. 9.

Throughout Chapter VIL., (pp. 74-79,) and at‘p. 266, read Sadleir for
Sadlier.

On p. 180, for Cailiand gead Cuillaud.

On p. 167, for Nizam at Mulck read Nizam ul Mulck.

On page 234, {01: Ganzam x2ad Ganjam.



PREFACE.

_—
-

Tge Vindication contained in this volume has a
semarkable apd pathetic history.

The late Sir Thomas Rumbold, who died in 1791,
‘was the father of a large family. His youngest
daughter, the author of this vindication, died, a
year ago last January, at an advanced age, leaving
behind her the substance of the following pages.
What was mneeded swas, that they should be
‘arrangedl and edited ; and circumstances left the
editor no option but to wundertake the work,
although he did so with tle greatest relpdtance,
because of the severe pressure ugon him of other
duties, and because he was destitute of the preliminary
knowledge as to the details of tje history ef British
India in the last century, which the task of editing
Miss Rumbold’s papers demanded.

It was not many years before her death that Miss
Rumbold became aware of the extent to whieh her
father’s reputation had beey darkened by the imputa-
‘tions of successive historiaus of Indian affairs, from the
ddte of Colonel Wilke’s ¢ Histonical Sketches of the
Sotith of Indip,” ¥ downwards to the psesent time.
Miss Rumboid was b this time a resident in France,
and had been for mauy years in a very frail condition

Vol. ii., 1817.
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of health. As-she became more and more uoyuminvou,
however, with the subject, her feeljngs became propor-
tionately interested in it. She was determined at least
to understané the. actnal merits of the cpse, and to
know whether her dather deserved the oploquy which
had been heaped upon him. If he was indeed, con-
trary to all her own family traditions, a corrupt and
tyrannical man, if he had been a mércenary and
flagitious ruler, she would know the worst. If, on the
c&ntra.ry, he had been maligned, notwithstanding her
physical feebleness and her advanced age, she would
see what might be accomplished, in order to vindi-
cate the character of her father., By the diligent
researches, accordingly, of her nephew, Mr. C.
J. A. Rumbold, she obtained, in addition to such
authorities as were generally known to Indian
students, an immense mass of original evidence in
relation to Sir Thomas Rumbold’s administration of
Madras in 1778-1780, and to Indian affairs in general
during the latter hal® of the last century. In particular
she obtained, what not one of the standard historians
of Indian affairs, who have pronounced condemnation
on Sir _Thomas Rumbold, seems to have been at the
pains to study, and what, of the critics or commentators
on the histories, Professor Wilson alone appears to have
consulted, the *“ Minutes of the Evidence taken at the
Bar of the House of CommonsI, on the Hearing of
Counsel on the Second Reading of the Billefor inflicting
certain Pains and Penalties on Sir Thomas Rumboi::l,”
&c. These Minutes afford conclusive evidence against
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the chief and staple charges which have been handed
down from historian {o historian; and leave no room to
wonder that Mr, Dundas found il convenient to let the
Bill drop after the second reading, when”Sir Thomas
Rumbold’s defence was completed. o With this volume
not beyond reach, it is very remarkable that such
a’ historian as Mr. Mill should, without any refer-
ence to its contents, that is, to the real evidence on the
case, have taken his representation of Sir Thomas
Rumbold from the accusations of the Bill of Pains and
Penalties, that is, from the indictment, which was con-
fessedly one:sided, and partook also of the nature of a
partisan attack, and should even have repeated and
given permaneney to cha,rfres which were so contrary to
evidence, that the prosecutors of Sir Thomas Rumbold
found themselves compelled to, abandon them at an
early stage of the prosecution.

Miss Rumbold also obtained possession of a copy in
manuscnpt of the speech of Mr. Bearcroft before the
House, on opening the case on the Part of the, prosecu-
tion against Sir Thomas Rumbold.

She was fortunate enough to obtain, in two large and
closely written folio volumes, the Briefs prepared for
the Counsel to oppose the Bill on behalf of Sir Thomas
Rumbold; besides which, Mr. Hardinge’s speech in
defence of his client, Sir Thomas,* and'the manly and
digpified defence pnblished hy the accused himself, for
private circudation, were secured by Mis§ Rumbold.
To complete her knowledge of the whole period, she

°
* Published by Robinson, Payne, and Son, &e. London, 1783,
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procured and*mastered the very voluminous and valu-
able Reports of the Committee of Secrecy of the House
of Commons on the Causes of the War in the Carnatic.
From the British- Museum and elsewhere ghe obtained
copies of corresportdence between Sir Thgmas Rumbold
and Sir Philip Francis, (then Mr. Francis,) and between
Sir Thomas and Bir Eyre Coote. Mr. Francis’ Diary
was also studied. Many scavce tracts on’Indian affairs
were laid under contribution. All the histories of
India, the Lives of Hastings and Burke, Hansard’s
Parliamentary History, and, in a word, whatever could
have any bearing, one way or the other, on' the merits
of Sir Thomas Rumbold’s administration, were closely
investigated : until Miss Rumbold knew that she had
all the evidence before Ler which eould relaté to the
matters she had so much uf heart. Six years of assidu-
ous labour were thus given by, the daughter to ihe
work of laying open the truth respecting her father’s
Indian government. .

The result is to *be found in the pages followmw
Miss Rumbold became convineed of her father’s inno-
cence of the grave offences which had been laid to his
charge, How the charges originated, and how and
why her father was devoted as a victim and a scape-
goat, to avert from others the storm of popular indigna-
tion, she beht,\ ed herself able to show. DBut she was
alone. She had outlived her early acquaintances ; ghe
had been long resident”in a foreign lamd; and she
had pno connexion with the literary world. She
left France and ecame to this country five years
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ago, beut upen the prosecution of ‘the task of
duty she had assigned herself, but unable to dis-
cover how her work could be accomplished. In the
latter part of 1866, she had completed her’collections;
she had got her argument into sorflething like form ;
but she was without a literary adviser, and she felt the
grea,t disadvantage under which she ,laboured from her
want of trammg as an author. She craved the judg-
ment of some compétent person as to the conclusive-
ness and effect of what she had prepared, and
also instruction and aid in putting her materials
into the best form for publication. By the advice of
the present writer, she, took her manuscript to Mr.
Marshman,, the Indian publicist and historian, who
kindly consented to examine what she had collected
and written. It so happened that Mr. Marshman had
just completed, and was bringing through the press,
the first volume of his History of India, in which he
had followed the general stream of authorilicg in con-
demnation of Sir Thomas Rumbold, Miss Rumbold’s
work, however, changed his views. As it was too
late to alter his text, he added an Appemdix, in
which he did uot hesitate to confess himself coyvinced
by the evidence which Miss Rumbold had adduced ; in
which he said that the chapter of Indian hlstory relating
to: Sir Thomas Rumbold would have to ‘be re-written ;
and expressed his judgment that the valuable matter
confained in *Miss Ratmbold’s papers ought.to be given
to the world. Mr. Marshman’s Appendix is printed in
this volume as a sequel to the Intr8ductory Notice of
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Sir Thomas ‘Rumbold’s history, which follows this
Preface, and immediately before the Vindication itself.

Such a testimony from pcrhaps the highest living
authority ad to Indian history was decisivg; and could
not but be a reward to Miss Rumbold forall the labour
she had undergone in her work of filial duty. DBut,
when she rea,d:Mr. Marshman’s Appendix, fresh
from the first issue of the volume in which it is con-
tained, she was already under the hand of death. The
severe cold of January, '1867, had taken hold of her.
On the last day but one of January, she read for herself,
ill as she was, Mr. Marshman’s Appendix. The day
following she died. She felt as if she had done her
work. Some of her last directions related to corrections
in her manuscript.

In conformity with her own desire, and at the urgent
request of her family and friends, the Editor felt con-
strauined to accept the task of preparing her papers
for the press. They were not fit to pu't into the
hands of any profegsional reader or corrector. " There
was necessity for much revision, sometimes for omis-
sion, sometimes for re-arrangement, sometimes for the
additign of a word or a clause to make the sense clear
and complete. And the whole had to be divided into
chapters. A merely professional man and an entire
stranger could not well be entrusted with all this
responsibility. There were, besides, many pages, of
matter toward -the end”of her oallectiors, relating to
the guestion of Sir Thomas and the Zemindars, and to
Mr. Whitehill’s #lations with Mr. Hastings, and a
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good deal also of Mr. Hardinge’s _Defence, about the
pubhca,tlon of which, whether in whole or in pa,rt she
was doubtful, although she had pat them‘m writing,
It was felt Shat a friend only ought to be entrusted
with the edi®rial responsibility, in a case which in-
cluded so wide and serious a discretion.

The Editor has done his best. Perpetual interrup-
tions from a multiplicity of other engagements, and
an entire want of previous familiarity with the matters
of history involved, have made it difficalt for him to
bring his work to a satisfactory conclusion.

Moreover, he felt that the Vindication was to be Miss
Rumbold’s, not his own. Hence, he has considered
himself gs bound to alter only where alteration was
necessary. He was'to leave Miss Rumbold’s style and
matter to make their own impression. Much more
might have been made; by a practised writer, of many
points, thanp has been done by Sir Thomas Rumbold’s
daughter.  Miss Rumbold 'ma.dg no Aattempt at
elaboration or at rhetoric; she desired -oply to
get down a plain unvarnished statement of facts.
She felt too deeply, and was too inexperienced a
writer, to attempt to put her feelings into avords,
or to deal with her father’s’ case as an advocate, or
an orator, or even as a trained writer of history, would
have done.

Notwuhstandmg, there are.the facts, there is the
history, to speak for: tself. If* Miss Rumbold lacked
literary experience, she did not lack mental power. Her
omastery of the whole subject, and, indeed, of the whole
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web of Indian history, with -its special subtleties and
mysterious intricacies, during the period with which her
father’s history and administration stood in relation,
‘was quite wonderful, as well as the acuéeness of her
investigations. This volume will be feund to throw
new light on the character and tactics of Mr. Hastings.
The history of the origin of the war in the Carnatic
must now be revised.* .

The Editor must add, that the special authorities on
which Miss Rumbold relied will be deposited in the
British Museum, for use by future historians.

* Miss Rumbold belonged, on her mother's side, to a family distin-
guished for learning and mental ability.© Her maternal grandfather was
Dr. Edmund Law, Bishop of Carlisie. Two of her methey’s brothers
were Bishops respectively of the sees of Elphin and of Bath and Wells,
She was a niece of the first. Lord Ellenborough, and was, of course, a
oousin of the present Earl. '
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OF

SIR THOMAS RUMBOLD.

i

Sz Troma® Rumsorp was horn in January, 1736, at
Leytonstone, in Essex. He was the youngest son
of ﬁr. W. Rumbold, of the Easts India Company’s
Naval Service, whose father, of the same name, had
also been in the service of the East India Company.
The Rumbolds traced their descent from a family
anciently of Essex, but in later times settled at Fulham.

From the year 1709, it appears from the recerds of
the India House, that seweral of the family were in the
civil servjcesof the Company. Sir Thomas’ elder brother,
Lieutenant William Rumbold, is distinguished by Mr.
Orme, in his “ History of India,” as having, on more
than one occusion during his short career, rendered
military and political service to the Company.

At the age of sixteen, Thogas Rumbeld was
appointed a writer to Fort St. George. There are now
in the India House the regmlar certificates of studies
qualifying him for the post. He soon changed the
civil for the military line, and was allowed toeretain
his rank in the former servicg. He was present at the
siege of Trichinopoly, and gt the retaking of Calcutta,
in 1756, where an act of remarkable intrepidity caused
him to be promoted to a ca.pmmcy by Loyd" Clive, to
whom he acted as atde-de-camp at Plassey. Seriously
wounded in that battle, he was unable any longer to
bear the fatigues of military service, and resumed his
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position in the civil department. By Lord (live he
was called from Madras, to take his seat in the Couneil
of Bengal, where lie remained for five years. He also
held the lucrative and important post of ahief of Patna.
Having made 4 handsome, although by no means a
colossal or extraordinary, fortune, and having at. the
same time suffered such exhaustion of henltfl as
commonly attends a residence of nhmy years in
such climates as those of Madras and Bengal, Mr.
Rumbold returned to England about the year 1769.%
In 1770 he entered Parliament, as Member for Shore-
ham. At this time his character and services were
highly esteemed at the India Hous2; and he was
named as the successor of Hastings, when the Directors
were determined upon his recall in 1773. This is a
fact not to be lost sight of in investigating the causes
of that jealousy of Sir Thowmas Rumbold on the part of
Mr. Hastings, the cxistence of which is prpved incon-
testably by the Dmry of Mr. (Sir Philip) Francis, gnd was
very manifest in the conduct of the Governor-General
towards Sir Thomas during his Presidency at Madras.
In1777-8, Mr. Rumbold was sent out to succeed Lord
Pigot at Madras. During his administration, Pondi-
cherry and Muhé were taken from the French by Sir
Hector Munro. For the taking of Pondicherry Mr.
Rumbold received the specm] thanks of the Directors,
and was ereated a Baronet. During his administration
he differed frequently from Mr." Hastiilés as to ques-

* He had visited England for his health onee in the interval, in the
years 1762-3,
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tions  of Indian policy ; and in particular be repeﬁ.*bedlfy

gnd pombed] y condemned the policy of the' Mahratta®
war, which, in his view, as in that of Mr. Franeis, led
immediately te the war in the Ca,mtsc.

.In 1780, Sir Fhomas Rumbold wasobliged to resign’
his office, and leave Madras, because of his broken
health, which threatened speedily fatal consequences,
unless relieved by an immediate return to Europe. - I,B_;:
set sail from Madras on the 6th of April; and, on his
arrival in England, found the Directors incensed against
him, He had not only offended Mr. Hustings, but
gsome of the-eivil servants of the Company who had
returned to England, oy who had friends in this
country. Especially had he given umbrage, both at
home and abroad, by some salutary reforms which he
had carried out, which struck at’ the emolument and
consequence of the local -boards, or « _sﬁbbi-diﬁacies,” as
they were sametimes called, and which also, by redu-
cing the value of patronage, sensibly aﬂ'ected ’bhe- inter-

ests of the patrons at home.

At this time, moreover, general indignation had
risen high against the profligacy, real or imagined, of
our Indian Government, against the whole clags of
Indiafi nabobs, as monsters of gorruption or oppression,
who had gaiged enormous foxtunes by the.foulest mis-
deeds. Only a few years before this she great Clive had
had to suffer the deepést humﬂmt;on as the rewaentar-
tive of Indian polm y and of Indian profligacy. Five and
twenty years later, by a not unrightegus rétribution,

b
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Lﬁr ﬂastmgs was to drink of the sume cmp of bntter-
‘ess to its dregs, in an agony of mortification \a,nd_
abaserent, prom‘a;cted through years. TLord Macaulay’s
'_'_W_brds set forth, with a vividness andapower which
another writer cofild not hope to rival, sthe condition of
the public mind as to the rulers of India. .

“ The unforturatc nabob seemed to be made up of
those foibles against which comedy has pointed the
most merciless ridicule, and of those crimes which have
thrown the deepest gloom over tragedy, of Turcaret
and Nero, of Monsieur Jourdain and Richard the
Third. A tempest of execration and derision, such as
can be compared only to that outbreak of public feel-
ing against the Puritans at the time of the Restoration,
burst on the servants of the Company. The humane
man was horrorstruck at the way in which they had
got their money; the thrifty man at the way in which
they had spent it. The Dilettanti snegred at their
waut ,of * taste. ¢ The Macaroni Dblackballed them as
vulgar: fellows. Writers, the most unlike in sentiment
and style, Methodists and libertines, philosdphérs and
buffoons, were for once on the same side. Itis hardly
too much to say, that during a space of about thirty
‘years, the whole lightgr literature of England- was
coloured by, the feelinggy which we haye described.
Foote brought on the stage an Anglo-Indian chief} dis-
solute, “ungenerous, t)mnm( al, ashmmed of the humble
friends of his youth ; hating the aristocracy, yet.child-
‘ishly eager to be numbered .Lmon& them ; squandering
-his wealth on panders and flatterers, tricking out his
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chairman with the most costly hothouse flowers, and’
astounding the ignorant with his jargon about rupees,
lacs; and- jaghires. Mackenzie, with more, delicate
humour, depicted a plain country fa,mllv raised by the
Indian acquisiti®ns of one of its members to sudden
opulence, and exciting derision by an awkward mimicry
of the manners of the great. Cowper, in that lofty
expostulation which glows with the very spirit of the
Hebrew poets, placed the ouppression of India foremost
in the list of those national erimes for which God had
punished England with years of disastrous war, with
discomfiture in her own seas, and with the loss of her
Transutlantic empire. If any of our readers will take
the trouble fo #earch in the dusty recesses of circulat-
ing libraries for some ilovd published sixty years ago,
the chance is that the villain or sub-villain of the story
will prove to be a savage‘old nabobh, with an immense
fortune, a tawny complexion, a bad liver, and a worse
heart.” *

Moreover, in 1780, within a few months after Sir
Thomas Rumbold returned to England, the nation
broke into wrath about Indian Affairs, upon a very
special provocation which had just eome to light, and
wanted, before all else, “someeone to hang.” The
"Mahratta warshad been full of mismanagement; the"
war inthe Carnatic had just broken out? The Directors
had committed tbemsel'vqs to- +he former war, wmd in
generaleto the policy of Mr. Hastings. While the

Eesuy on Lord Clive.
/Y



XX INTRODUCTORY XOTICE OF

nation demanded a victim and a sacrifice, the Company
needed a scape-goat. Sir Thomas Rumbold was
made the victim, and on him the indignation of
the nation was dirccted. He was esacrificed for
the misdoings of the Directors. He%vas held up to
popular odiuwn, as one who had not rendered needful
help in the Mahratta war, and wilpae high-handed
and impolitic cdministration at Madras bad precipitated
the war in the Carnatic. How far these imputations
were well-founded, will appear in the course of this
volume. Hisfriends maintained that the Mahratta war
was altogether ill-advised and calamitous; that that
war was in effect the mair cause of the war in the
Carnatic ; and that Sir Thomas Rumbold svas absolutely
prevented by Mr. Hastings’ neglect at one time, and
interference and coercion at another, from taking the
sbeps which he desired to take, in preparation for the
contingency of a war with Hyder Ali, which he had
throughout cleayly seen, and against which he was
continually warning Mr. Hastings to prepare.

The history of the prosecution to which Sir Thomas
Rumbold, like Lord Clive before him, and Mr, Hastings
aft@rwards, was subjected on his retyrn to England,
is given by Miss Ruwbold in some of the opening
chapters of .this volume.. It is sufficient here to note
that, having sert in his resignation previous to his
leav%Madras in April, 1780, and having reached
Englgnd towards the autumn’ of the suwe year, Sir
Thomas Rumbold was formally censured and dis-
missed by the East India Compauy in January, 1781 ;
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tbat, in Aprﬂ of that year; the calamitous war in the
Carnatic became the subject of discussion in the House
of Commons, with a view Lo a full inquiry, in yhich dis-
oussion (April Wth) Sir Thomas Rumbuld who had taken
his seat as MemMer for Yarmouth, Isle of Wight, having
been made the object of certain insinuations by Mr.
T. Townshend, slioke at some length, giving his views
as to the extent of ground which a thorough inquiry
should cover, and courting the fullest investigation ; that
on the 9th of April in the following year, (1782,) Mr.
Dundas opened the case against the Indian authorities,
and in particular against Sir Thomas Rumbold, by a
speech, in which he moved for a Committee of the
whole House qn Indian Affairs; that after this, in due
course, certain Resolutions upon Indian Affairs, and
especially o series relating to thé administration of
Madras, passed the Hoass, (April 29th,) upon which a
Bill of Pains and Penalties against Sir Thomas
Rumbold, and other members of the eMadray Conneil,
was founded; that a Bill to restrain Sir Thowas
Eumbold and Mr. Perring from leaving the kingdom
was also brought in, and passed the Committee;
after its Second Reading, on the 3rd of May of the satne
year ; that after an interval of nine months, that is to say,
in February, 1783, the prosecution was opened, and the
defencé closed on the last dey of May following ; and that
the Billwas abandoned on J uné Zadof thesame yemfter
but one debate; at, whach it was evident that the feeling of
the House in the matter was very materigjly changed.
Sir Thomas Petained his seat in Parliament; took
part in diseussions relating to Indian Affairs, was
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listened to with respect and 48 1a shown m t}ns
rolume was publicly spoken of by Mr. Burke | m such
a way as proved that his character and poaitmn in the
House were resi‘med In his own cu‘efe and during
his lifetime, the voice of calumny seéms to have beén
silenced. Nor.was it until more than a quarter of a
century after his death, when Colohel Wilks, writing
under the inspiration of Mr. Hastings, published his
History of Affairs in the South of India, that the accu-
-sations of the Directors and of Mr. Dundas’s Com-
“mittee were revived.

The following letter from Sir Thomas Rumbold to
Lord North accompanied @ copy of the Baronet’s
‘Defence, as published (in part) by hiraselé.

«My Lorp,

“ArrER the very polite réception I received from
your Lordship, on my first arrival, i may appear
extravrdinary that I have for some ilime deferred
pa.)fin;g my compliments to you; it has, my Lord, arose
from a point of delicacy, for I find it -absolutely
necessary 1 the first instance to vindicate the
mefsures of my administration abroad, against the
violent attack that hss been made upon them. "The
glow progress of inguiry has unavoidably held me in
a very disagreegble situation, and not only prevented
me fiwan offering my :-sentirm:‘nt;; on. the state of India
in general, and the regulations that were necegsary to
be adopted, Qut has obliged me to act with great
reserve till my conduct has undergone a’ thoroﬂgh
investigation, and I am either condemned or" set’ at
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liberty to act with mdepen&ence and freedom. T take
the hbereby ‘of ‘enalosing to your Lordship the first
attempt I 'have made. to” enter into a Jushﬁc&tmn of
myself; if e should merit your Lurdsh1p 8 perus&l
I doubt not but you will find it is founded on facts;
and I will venture to assert that, the subsequent_
chapters will afford as strong a vindication on the
several points on which they break as the one now
offered on & measure that has been reprobated not
because it was in itself bad, but because it was likely
to impress the public with an idea of peculations, and
to raise a prejudice in order to answer particular
purposea. I have the honour to be with great respect,
“My Lord, '
% Your Lordship’s most obedient humble servant
“Tyomas Rumporp.

 New Cavendish Street, March 11th, 1782.”

All Sir Thomas Rumbold’s addresges in the House,
the tone of the Defénce itself, his silence in the House
during the time his conduct was under investigation,-'
and ‘whatever else is known of him, are in 'agreemeht
with the delicacy and dignity. of feeling express@d in
this letter. If, from 1784 onwards, he felt himself at
liberty to take his full share in the discussions on
Indian Affairs in the House of Commons, and if, w\hen
he had spoken,. his words wore ma,rked by the cem-
mendetion of such a man as Burke, the reason wn.a;;._
that his moral influence was restored. gln the extrac‘cs"'
feom Mr, Burke? s speech on the Debts of the Nabob. nf‘
Amai:, gn:m on pp. 20-81, and in a supplementary nosba
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on p. 851, it'will be seen how vastly more severe is Mr.
‘Burke’s condemnation of Mr. Dundasthan any cen sure to
which he had thought Sir Thomas Rumbold at any time
Iiablé; and‘how highly he praises the Barpnet’s s conduct
durmg the coursé of the Parliamentaryinvestigation,

It may here be added that Sir Thomas Rumbold was
elected M.P. for Weymouth, in 1784, and sat for that
borough till his death in 1791. He 14ft issue by both
his first and second wife. Sir Arthur Rnmbold,
Governor of Tortola, descended from the first wife, is his
great-grandson, and inherits the title. Miss Rumbold,
the author of the following pages, was the youngest
of three daughters by the segohd marriage, and sister
to the late Charles Edmund Rumbold, for many years
M.P. for Great Yarmouth.

Posterity has often-modified, has sometimes reversed,
the judgment pronounced on .character by contempo-
raries ; later history has very often set aside the less
thoroughly informoed conclusions of history written too
near the time of the actors to escape from the bias of
partiality or the cast of prejudice. In the present
case, although it is not to be supposed that Sir
Thogas Rumbold’s administration will be proved
to have been altogether_free from errors of judgment,
it cannot be doubted tha,t he will have to be instated
amony the raan, of not (mly able, but also honourable,
administrators in our Indian Empire. He was not
unworthy to be the fifend of Clive, and fo have been put
in nomination for the Governor-Generalship of India.
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Proceepings oF Sirk THoMAS RuMBOLD, GOVERNOB OF
Mabras, 18 1778, 1779, axp 1780.

SINCE this volume was sent to press, the author has been
favoured with a large and valuable collection of papers, compiled
from original correspondenee, and from printed records long
since forgottep, relative to the administration of Sir Thomas
Rumbold, at Madras, and intended to relieve his memory from
the obloquy which has rested on it for nearly half a century.
A careful perusal of this compilatin forces the conclusion that
the charges brought against him by Colonel Wilks and Mr.
Mill were based on erroncous information, and partial investiga-
tion. The statements regarding his procecdings, which are
now received as historical facts, and the authenticity of which
the author of this volume never suspeeted, are not, as it would
appear, to be relied on, and this chapter of Indian history res
quires to be written afresh. The interests of historical truth
demand this candid admission, and render it necessary to place
before the reader the clear explanations which these documents
afford, of various points on which his conduct has been
impeached.

The large sums remitted: to Englands by Sir Thomas Rum-
bold, soon after his arrival at Madras, have been (,onz.ldemd a
decisive proof of*the corrupt charactér of his proceedmws But
these papers explain that he was for twelve years a civilian on
the Bengal establishiient, and chief of thg factory of Patna
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and moreover ehgaged, like all the civilians of the time, in mer.
-eantile transactions ; that the remittances consisted of -the pro-
perty he had left in Bengal in the public securities, as proved
by the clearegt evidence, and which, combined with his salary
as Governor, fully accounted for the fortune he hed accumulated,
of which he was obli8ed on his return to deliver a schedule on
oath, under the penalty of the confiscation of his entire pro-
perty, if he erred to’the extent of £500.

The Court of Diredtors had directed five of the members of
Council at Madras to procecd to the northern Circars, to com-
plete a settlement with the Zemindars, and Sir Thomas Rumbold
has been censured for cancelling the Comimission, and directing
the Zemindars to repair to Madras, where they were required to
transact business with him alone. But it 1s now rhown that,
for this procedure, he submitted his reasons to the Court of
Directors, the chief of which was that these landholders were
endeavouring to baffle the Commissioners, and that the Court
denlared themselves perfectly satistied with the course he had
adopted. When the matter came under Parliamentary investi-
gation, it was attested by four witnesses that, at the Madras
Presidency, trausactions of this nature had always been con-
ducted by the President himself, and subsequently communicat-d
to the Board, '

Regarding the brib€ of a lic of rupees to his Secretary, Mr.
Redhead, by Seetaram Raj. it i~ shown that Mr. Redhead never
enjoyed the confidenee of Sir Thomas, and was dismissed within
a few months of his arrival at Madras, and died soon after. A
paper was discovered among his etfects, which purported to bs a
translafion from the original, in the Gentoo lariguaze, contain=
ing a promise on the part of Seetaram Raj to pay him a lac of
rupees, on the performance of gertan services. It was not at-
tested by Seetaram, or, by Mr. Redhead. 1li# executors, how-
ever, sued the native for the wnount 1 the Mayor's Court, and
pbtained aecree, which was reversed on appealby the President
in Council. An attempt was made to implicate Sir Thomés in
the odium of this teuma,etion, but the Counsel for the Bill found
that it could not be surtained, and abandoned the charge.
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It is stated in the histories of India, that when Sir Thognss
summoned the Zemindars of the Northern Cirears to Ma,dras,
Viziram Raj, the Zemindar of Vizagapatam, declined to ebey
the injunection, pleading the injury which his fstates would
suffer from hig absence, but that his brother Seetaram ‘Raj
hastened thithey and succeeded in obtaming from Sir Thomss
Rumbold the entire command of the Zemindary, in spite of his
brother's remonstrances. The version of this affair given.in
these papers, and substantiated by docmmentary evidence, “pre-
sents it in a tot.o,llv different aspect. Scetaram was the eldest
son, and the lawful heir of the Principality, but, under the
pressure of palace intrigues, was induced to relinquish his right
to his brother, and to consent to act ashis Dewan, or Steward:;
in which capacity he managed the estates with such fidelity and
benefit, as in a few years to double the rent-roll. A ‘competitor
at length succeeded in poisoning the mind of Viziram Raj
against bis brother, and supplanted him in his office. Seetaram
was at Madrhs, seeking the intervention of the publie author-
ities before the arrival of Sir Thomas, who determined, if possi-
ble, to reconcile the brothers. The new Dewan, who wa.sf'a
defaulter to the extent of £90,000, was directed to proceed to
the Zemindary, and bring up his accounts. Sir Thomas
embraced the opportunity of his absence, which relieved Vizi~
ram from the spell of his influence, t8 make up the family
quarrel. Seetaram was re-appointed Dewan, and cohtinued o
live in harmony with his brother, and secured the punectual
payment of the public revenue, and promoted the 1mpr0vement-
of the family property.

The most important series of events elucidated by thése docu-
ments, is that which refers to thg transfer of the Guntoor Cll'~
car ; which has been assumed, without question, as the cause “of
the eonfederacy formed to exterminate the Company, and of the
‘war with Hyder Ali, which spread desolation throygh the Car<
natic. The sgfatement, which has hitherto besn deemd'
authenhm, rens thus :—1y the Treafy made with the Nizam, i in
1768, a tribute of scven lacs of rupees a year was to be paidigo
him for the four Cirears, and he was boundbo consider the s
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" mies of the Company his enemies., The Guntoor Circar, how-
ever, was to remain in the possession of his -brother, Basalut®
. Jupg, during his life, and then to revert to the Company; but
if he gave progection or assistance to their enemies, they were at
libetty to take possession of the province, snd retain it.

Basalut Jung employ®d Monsieur Tlly to organize an army,

commanded by French officers, which was gradually increased

to five hundred Europeans and three thousand Sepoys, and was
constantly supplied witl recruits and stores thyough the port of
Motaprlly. In 1779, Basalut Jung, alirmed by the encioach-
ment of 1lyder, voluntarily proposed to Sir Thomas Rumbold
to lease his territory for its full value to the Company, to dis-

miss the French foree, and to receive a Dritish confingent in its

stead. A British force was accordingly gent to take possession

of the province, and Mr. Hollond was deputed to Hyderabad to

explain this transaction to the Nizam, and to demand the re-
mission of the tribute, which had been withheld for some time.

The Nizam was exasperated at a procceding which he considered

a breach of the Treaty, and immediately formed a confederacy

with the Mahrattas and Hyder for the extermination of English

power in the Deccan.  These measures were concealed from Mr.

Hastings, who, on becoming cognizant of them, superseded the

authority of the Madras Government at the Court of the Nizam,

ordered tlhre plzoviucc tabe restored, and eagaged to make good

the ¥ributé; and, by this prompt and conciliatory procedure,

detadhed Lim from the great Confederacy.

The documents now collected give a totally ditferent aspect
to these transactions. The collection of a French force in Giun-
toor had been an object of alarm equally at Calcutta and at
Madras for years hefore the Cgnfederacy was formed.  [n July,
1775, the Governor-Gieneral sfated that no time shouil be lost
in removing it and aut’lorm d the Government of Madras to
march a bodg of troops to the fiontior, to demand the imme-
diate dismissal of the French force; mvd, if it -wgs not complied
with, to take possession of the country and retain it. $he
Government of Madras, instead of adopting this extreme
measure, sent a rem&strancc to the Nizam, as Soobadar of the
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Deuean, and urged the removal of the French corps.  He pm-
®nised to respect the Treaty “to a hair's breadth,” but con-
stantly evaded compliance with the demand, which was often
repeated. The capture of Pondicherry, in 1778, gave a new
turn to affairs9in the Deccan ; and, combined with the reeem'.
encroachinents o Hyder, who threatened %o absorb the Gunteor
Circar likewise, iaduced Basalut Jung to send a Vakeel to
Madras, and offer to make over the province to the Company
on the pagyment f the same sum which 8 had hitherto derived
from it, to dismiss the Freuch, and receive an English force. A
Treaty, embodying these arrangements, was accordingly drawn
up by Sir Thomas Rumbold, with the full concurrence of Sir
Eyre Coote, then a member of the Madras Couneil, and submit~
ted to Mr. Hastings, who made divers alterations, and then
returned it to be carried into effect, with his full concurrence.
A detachment of British trpops was then sent to occupy the,
province, who were obliged to cross a corner of 4 district which
Hyd.r -had recently added to his dominions, The Court of
Directors likewise commended the meritorious conduct of Su’_
Thomas in concluding the Treaty. 5
- The Nizam and Hyder resented this proceeding, but their
indignation only served to demonstrate the wisdom and policy
of it. TheNizam reproached his brother for havipg rented the
Circar to the ‘Euglish; when he should®have made b over. to
Hyder Ali. Hyder had resolved to oust Basylub Jung, and
take possession of the provinee, which would give him a position
on the flank of the Carnatic, and a port on the Coromandel
coast. He was irritated by the prowptness with which this
design was {rustruted, aud vowed that he would not allow the
Circar to pass into the hands of ‘®his old and bitter enemies 7
By a singular error, accidental o,r otherwise, the word “ enemy’
wag subatituted for “ cuemjes,” and the, declaration was thua
made to apply to Mahomed Al the Nabob of the Carnatic, and
not to the Company, whoj Hyder always regarded with a iwn
ing of rancorous hat red. - ‘“_
With regard to the tribute of seven lacs g rupecs a year the
papers state that it bad fallen into arrears before the arrival of
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8ir Thomss Ruinbold. The Nizam was pressing for payment
apd “the Madras Government had ' earnestly entreated thﬁé
'Gdtemor-General to assist them with funds to discharge it.
;’I‘he Maudras Rresidency was reduced to such a state of poverty,
‘hat when the troops had been paid for one mowth, they knew
ot where to look for*the mest supply. Mr. Mollond was sent
to Hyderabad, not to make a positive demand of remission, to
“be eventually supported by violence, but to solicit a reduction
-of the sum, on the ple¥of poverty ; and, if the Nizam appeared
‘to be propitious, to propose the entire relinquishmient of it,
“eoupled with certain propositions which it was thought would
_appear an equivalent for the sacrifice. 1If they were rejected, he
‘was instructed to assure the Nizam that the current tribute, as
‘well as the arrears, would be paid “as soon as they were in
cash.” Mr. Hollond found, on his arrival, that the Nizam had
taken the French force dismissed by, Basalut Jung into his own
service ; which, considering that the English were then at war
with the French, was a gross breash of the Treaty, and the
Governor of Madras strenuously remonstrated with the Nizam
_!'Or-t_lpenly protecting and encouraging the enemies of the Com-
pany. Mr. Hollond therefore informed him that the payment
of the tribute would be made, on his giving full satisfuction re-
garding the Krench troops. '
"The hostile confedefucy formed bv the'Nizam is atﬁrlbuted
by the historians, to the irritation produced in the mind of the
Nizam by the Guntoor transactions and the tribute negotia-
tions. But the documents show that it was formed before they
had occurred, and that this fact was admitted by the Governor-
Genersl himself. The animosity of the Nizam, which led to the
Confederacy, was created by #he support given by the British
Government to Raghoba, whom, he considered “his most invete-
rate enemy. He had earnestly remonstrated with the Bengal
Gofemment on this suhjwt and a.nnounced his deﬁermmatlou to
attack the Compapy’s dominions if the alliance was no¥'relin.
qunhed. Another cause of annoyance was the interception®of a
letter. sd.dremd bygthe Governor-General to Mr. Elliott,. the
envoy sent to Nagpore, authorizing him to-conclude an'alliance
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with the Baph, and to assist him in recovering tertain territo.
r#s from the Nizam. It is shown in, the papers that it was
these two transactions alone which induced the ‘Nizam to fm‘n;
a ¢ombination against the Compia.n_y. It has likewige been bex
lieved that the QNizam was detached from the Confederacy by
the assurance of tt® Bengal Government thik the tribute should
be paid, and the Guntoor Circar restored ; but a far more pro-
bable cause of this change of polioy is to be found, so the papets
8ay, in the fact thaf, while the Nizam wav inciting Hyder to
attack the English, he discovered that Hyder had sent a Vakeel
to Delhi, to obtain from the puppet of an Emperor an Amperial
grant of the whole of the Nizam’s dominions ! o -
These documents deal also with the assertion that the Madras:
Government, after having given every provocation to Hyder,
were taken by surprise when he burst on the Carnatic  But it
is stated that every effort was made to conciliate him. The
expedition to Mahé was undertaken by orders from home; but
when it was fodnd to be. obnoxious to Hyder, Sir Thomas pro-
posed that it should be suspended, but was overruled by Sir
Eyre Coote. Hyder declared that he would be . revenged for
Mahé in the Carnatic. Tha Madras Council were fully aware
of his hostility, and repeatedly pointed out the danger to which
the Carnatic would be exposed from his assaults, and their in-
ability to defend it. They recommended adunion of all the Pre-
sidencies to reduce his power, . In announcing Hyder's prepara-
tions to Calcutta, in November, 1779, Sir Thomas Rumbold
stated that if he should enter the Carnatic, it was beyond their
power to prevent the ravages of bis horse; but 8o late as Janu-
ary, 1780, Mr. Hastings wrote : * I am eonvinced from Hyﬁ:r 8
conduct and disposition, that he wil never molest us while we
preserve a good understanding with him.” "y
In.reference to the desertion: of his post on the eve of the
war, and the resentment ot the Churt of blrectors, the papers:
show that the megsures of Sir Thomas Rumbold had been unix:
formlp commended by them and that the tlrst censure af- his:
condugct, which was also acwmpa.med by a septence of depcm@
tion, was written three months after they had received His
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resignation, and:¥ppointed Ein"aﬁeﬁ% prg-andsy that his reire-
went from India wasrendere’ﬂ\.., dperafive bythe advice of the
ﬁrgt\phjslcxa.ns mﬂadras After his return, Mr. Dundas in-
ﬁmﬂ.mﬁd a Bill df.ppins and penalties, charging him with high
drﬁd andﬂmzstﬁmfeanours, and more particulerly stigmatizing
the trinseebiet regdtding the Guntoor Circer as having been
done in a clandestine, treacherous, irregular, and unjustifiable
manner. The law ‘officers of the Crown condemned these pro-
ceedings as unjust. *Svme of the more important allegatlons in
the Bill were abanduned, and others .broke down when breught
to the test of evidence; and the B.l itself was withdrawn
twenty months after it had been presented, by a motion that it
be read that day six months.

1t is to be hoped that this valuable collection of documents
will, at no distant period, be given to the public, for the
information of those who take an interest in the history of
British India, and the guidance of those who may hereafter
treat of this subject.



CHAPTER 1

PREJUDICES LNG CURRENT AGAINST SIR THOMAS
RUMBOLD. THE OCCASION. AND ORIGIN OF THESE.

Eicnry years have passed since Sir Thomas
Rumbold was arraigned before the House of
Commons, on the charge of grievous misconduct
during the period of his administration in India.
The circumstances of the case are little under-
stood, if not altoge:ther forgotten ; and can there-
fore inspire little general interest. There may
be some, however, to whom it has been matter
of surprise, that, when all who have been placed
in situations somewhat similar; have found in
aftertimes warm friends and advocates to defend_
their cause, not ohe voice- should have been
raised to stem the torrent of abuse that is cen-
tinually directed awamst sthe government a.nd
character of Sir Thomas Rumbold. .

It i is needless here to offer arfy explanation of
this past neglect, but since,:ps things now arey
it would seem that so lonrr as & very eventful
period of Indiar history is' remembered a.n&

B



desoribed, the name of Sir Thomas Rumbald
will ‘be held up to reprobatmn, and vilified by
evary ‘succeeding writer, it is hoped that some
‘attention”will be granted to these pages.

They have been compiled from tHe only authen-
tic records now existing, and with the object
of giving a better understanding of this parti-
cular case. It will also be found that, in some
respects, a new and truer light is thrown upon
the portion of history in-which he was an actor.

The authorities specially referred to, from
which subsequent writers have borrowed the
representations they give of these transactions,
are the histories of Colonel Wilks and of Mr.
Mill. | |

“In the former, it is only the subjects of general
historic interest, in which Sir Thomas Rumbold
was céncerned, that are dwelt tipon, and in these
‘he .has been made subservient to a special
purpose of the author. It avill bhe shown that
the circumstances under which Colonel Wilks
‘has given his accoupt of the transactions in
~guestion repder it unworthy of credit.

Tt is more difficult to assign the motwes that
may have led Mr Mill, who is,, glccordmg ta
genera.l opinion, a most respectable and faithful
historian, to deal so  unfairly with the circum-
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stances of this case. ~In the manner of recount.
ing the historical facts, as well as in his enumera~
tion of the charges originally made, #he same
spirit of enmigy towards Sir Themas Rumbold
prevails. Whether it is attributable to the same
cause as that which so much incex.xsed the Court
of Directors, admits only of conjecture; but
throughaut it is rather they who are speaking,
than an historian gathering the truth from inde-
pendent and from all available soufces.

In a late edition of this History by Professor
Wilson, all the accusations set forth in the
fourth chapter, vol. iv., with the concluding
paragraph, are followed by this observation of
the editor :—¢The aunthor does not appear to
have been in possession of the Minutes of the
‘Evidence, which was produced inejustification of
the Bill of Pains and Penalties introducéd by
Mr. Dundas : ”’ and, from his own study of the
evidence, Professor Wilson has made some im-
portant ' corrections of Mr. Mill’s statements.
Had he examined a little further he might have
seen, not only that all these accusatlons were
either placed in a very different ].lrrht, or utterly
disprqved at ffie Bar of the House of’ Commons,
but that some of the charges madesvery promi-
nent in Mr. Mills History kad been abarg-

B 2
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doned as untenwble articles of the Ball oj .Pama
and_Penalties, before any evidence in su&pm't
of them dad been attempted on the part of, the
accusers.* But since Mr. Mill,Was ignorant
or regardless of the evidence by. which all
i‘.h&-_‘;&p(}h&&ﬁ()il;} were met, it is important to
ask'attention to a brief examination of the
authorities to which he does himsglf refer.
First, then, with regard to the judgment
of the Court*of Directors, cited hy Mr. Mill,
it may be observed, that the first censure
ever addressed by them to Sir Thomas Rumbold,
and "which was accompanied by a‘sentence of
banishment from the service, was dated three
months after they had received his formal resig-
nation, under circumstances explained by him-
self, s.which precluded his ever secking further
employment in the climate of India. This resig-
nation had been formally acknowledged by the
Directors and two Courts were held, when Lord
_ Macartney was appomted ¢ successor to a resigna-
“tion,” yet the Pr opmetms were not informed
that there existed any cause of displeasure against
Sir Thomas Rumbold. This coufd not be deemed

% Mr. Mill has, in fact, reproduceci the accusations aghinst Sir
Thomas Rumbdckd without, so far as appears, having even read any
of the statements and evidence in reply.—~ED1TOR.
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an accidental omission. The Direetors knew
that he had friends among the Proprietors who
would have mswted upon canvassing the merits
of any measting they might contetnplate agalnst
‘him, and might have engaged a General Court
to give it a fair consideration. , ‘The- lettev of
resignation was dated the 15th of Januaty, 1780,
and was- received on the 15th of - September
following.* When on the 20tk of December, a
few days before Sir Thomas Rurltbold was ex:
pected to arrive in London, the Directors went
through the mockery 4f dismissing him from a
service which he had already relinquished, it was
ostensibly for measures carried out at Madras;
with every detail of .which they had been ace
quainted for much above a twelvemonth, and at
which they had testified no dissetisfaction; in-
deed that interval had been marked by the
general thanks of the Company. Should it be
objected that those thanks were for distinct
services, reference may be made to the ¢ Minutes

- * «Minutes of the Evidence,” p. 211. See also Barrow’s  Life
~of Lord Macartneyd# vol. i., p: 71. *““At a Court of P:ppnetérs
held on the 23rd ¢f, November 1789, a letter from Sir Thomas
Rumbold Jvas read, wherein he declared his intention to resign his
_Qovcrnment and notice was then given that on the 14th ef-
Dgcember it was intended to proceed to nominate a successor.”
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'_of the Evidence,” * and ‘to the Appendix to the
ISecond Report of the Committee of ‘Secrecy,'l'
‘where it will be seen that the very - measures
relating to what was called the suspensmn; of the
Committee of Circuit, and to the treatment of
the Zemindarsr,_twhich were subsequenﬂy described
as so obnoxious, and held up to the censure of
Parliament, are commented upon approvingly in
letters from the Directors; ‘and the President
and Council $re recommended to persevere in
the plans suggested for their relief from very
long established grievances, which had involved
them in almost hopeless debt.: The Government,
however, adopted the views of the Directors, a
parliamentary inquiry was instituted to report
upon Sir Thomas Rumbold’s conduct, and a re-
strairing Bill was enacted to.make hisproperty
amenable to justice in Parliament.

How far it concurred with the political mea-
sures then in contemplation, to impress the
House strongly with a sense of the-misconduct
of the servants of fhe Company, and to direct
against Sir Thomas Rumbold in particular, the
indignétion that had louﬂ' been ggthermg in the
public mind against the Company i in general, is

& <« Minutes of the Evidence,” p. 245.
t 'Second Report, Appendix, No. 152.
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a question that requires much insight ihto the
politics -of the. times wholly to solve; but the
result is obvious.. There was a general deter«
mination to Jevote Sir Thomas Rumbold, and te
this object truth and justice were alike saerificed.®

Apart from any interest that mpy be felt for
the vindication of a eharacter that has been
falsely akpeﬂed «it is curious to observe the
latitude which, in the yecars 1782 and 1783,
persons who filled the most distinguished offices
in the state allowed to themselves, in order to
serve the purposes they had in view. '

* Some clue to the causcs of this proceeding may be found in
these considerations. A renewal of the Charter was imimndingQ
The prosecution of Sir Thomas Rumbold appears to have been in
furtherance of the object My, Fox’s Rill had in view. The
Government of «Sir Thomas Rumbold was temporary, it being
intended that Lord Pigof should resume higpost; amd he had a
special mission to examine into the LL]Lbl‘dtLd subj ct of the debts
of the Nahob of Arcot. In these many interests were concerned.
Scme of the debts Sir Thomas Rumbold, in the view he took of
the case, repudiated ; and, on hig first arrival at Madras, he inger-
fered to refuse the sanction of Goverament to the ratification of a
new Joan of forty lacs that wus in train of negotiation.—See
Fourth Report, p. 686. ) )

A great Jeal of jealousy oo {his subj.ect was ekcited by
anticipation ; since®*hostile pamphlets were circulated before any
accounts -of Sir Thomas Rumbold’s conduct could have reached
England.
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A very slight observation will make this so
apparent, that Sir Thomas Rumbold needs
scarcely any other acquittal beyond what is to
be found in that portion of the Parhamentary
Reports of the Committee of eSecrﬁcy which
relates to him. The series of Resolations laid
before the Hougse by Mr. Dundas professed to be
foundedupon the authentic docyments supplied to
the Committee by the Court of Dircctors ; and al-
though in this collection of documents much was
suppressed essential to forming a right judgment
in many cases on which the Committec was to
pronounce, a comparison of the Reports Witg
these documents (which were published as Ap.
pendices) will show, that in every instance they
have cither been garbled, or absolutely falsified,
in passing through the hands of the Committee
which drew up the Report,.and on behalf of
which Mr. Dundas presented his Resolutions.

It would cxceed the necessary limits that must
here be prescribed to point this out in every
case; but in treating of the most prominent
charges, sufficient exlamplos will appear to prove
the truth of what has‘heen asserted. It will be
found “most obvious in those details which
relate to the parly accusations respectmg the
Zemindars, and thercfore attention is entreated
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to that subject, though-it is one of little general
mterest o

Of the sudden and hostile revolution of feeling,
on the part ¥f,the Court of Direators, which has
been described above, some explanation is given
in the forcible language of Judgé Hardinge, in
the opening ddress of his- ¢ Defence of Six
Thomas B,umbo];l,” where he also alludes to the
manncr of the proceedings in Parliament.

The address commences with this strong appeal
against the commitment of the Bill :—That i
was neither just, nor wise, nor safe in the legis-
lature to shut the courts of law against the party
accused, and force him to that bar for his trial.

.. Attainders are_acts of real and urgent
necessity : they never should be desecrated by
the ruling power to the mischievpus gratification
of political resentment. Bills like these are end-
less inquisitions. The old acquittal of the law
had words of comfort in it; ¢ But inde quietus

* See note 1, Appendix to this ®olume, consisting of extracts
from the “Answer to the Charges of the Directors, and “the
Reports of the Secret Comnnittee, by Sir Thomas Rumbold him-
self,” Of this only one phurt was grmted and circulated, while the
Bepous were in progress;—in consequence of a denial in every
quarter to afford him any opportunity of explanation. It may be
geen in some public litraries, and in the British Museum.



10 CHAPTER T.

sine die :* "But here ordeal after ordeal perse-
-entes the victim of suspicion : they are Bills of
discoverys as well as of penalties ; the calumny of
the mob is inflamed, the character Jevoted, and
ﬁ cold acquittal from guilt, or exempticn from
punishment, is mo mercy to a good name dis-
honoured. |

el Why substitute a Bill of pa'in's and penalties
in place of an impeachment or any other legal
proceeding ? Was this court preferred because
no legal evidence could be found? I am bold
enough to affirm that [ believe it was; because
I observe that illegal evidence forms many alle-
gations of the Bill; and we are told that every
allegation criminates, and must be verified, be it
ever so inapplicable by the rule of law to-the
terms .of-chargg* By such a, doctrine,.all the
ealumnies which malevolence can form, all the
suspicions of an inquisitor, may be ingredients
of this poisonous chalice, and Sir Thomas Rum-
hol(l must vindicate ever’y passage of his life
agamst them as well ds he can.

" “Yet, 8ir, it is in the memory of those who

~ * How true a picture Mr. Ilardmﬂe has here drawn of the fate
p{' Sir Thomas Rumbold under this Bill! It i these allegations,
s they came fresh from the hands of his accusers, tHat still
pursue his character.
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hear me, that I have, on the part of the accused,
waived my protest agamst many articles of 11163‘&1
“evidence, illegal upon the first blush of>them I
admit, however, that I embracod this line of
conduct with pleasure : because if tendered but
refused, he never could have disproved by evi-
dence the iniputations com'eyéd. It is his
misfortune to ﬁ}ght ‘against lurking suspicic'ms,
not against evidence; it must be for his advan-
tage that everything that can breathe upon his
character may be adduced and explored..... Lebe
I must now address the House upon the topic of
the 'unexampled severities that have oppressed
the culprit of this Bill............ Apprised, in
March, 1779, of all the political enormities
spread before you in this Bill, the Company
thanked him at a General Court for his,active
and able services. Irom the period- of those
thanks, (a year and a half,) I ask why the
resentment which is now so inexorable slept ?. . ;

“ A sentence before he has been heard, in
direct breach of those very covenants which the
Directors tgll him he has violated! " A sentenee
which ends with .partlahtles I challen ge any
man, to vmdlcate or excuse. One of the Councd
i only reprlmanded though deep in all tha;
supposed guilt of Sir Thomas Rumbold. qu
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others included, but restored in less than a
month. Orders have been sent to the Kast;
orders which I call by no other name than
subornation ofe evidence. They ditbe the in-
former by assuring to him a part of any corrupt
acquisition to the culprit’s fortune, which he can
bring forward ; and they mark thé corruption as
believed by themselves, although not proved in
form.*

“I will now tell the House why the censure
was reserved for 1781. Between March, 1779,
and January, 1781, in that critical period, Sir
Thomas Rumbold writes to the Company, and
enters a firm and able protest against the
Mahratta wa», the war of the Dircctors, duped

* Lixtract from the concluding part of Mr. Hadinge’s  De-
fence : "~ I have no¥ dissected all the corruption of Sir Thomas
Rumbold, which the irdustry and vigilance of those who drew this
Bill could insinuate. Not a shilling has been traced into his
pocket by the keen eyes of the subordinates, men whose corruption
he reformed, whose resentment he provoked. -The Zemindars,
courted and bribed by the®Directors to beiray the extortions
practised upon .them, are unacgountably mute, though he is at a
distance from them, mo longer in the service, an® his character
“branded by the Inquisition itself thus erected gver him. Trom
the total disappointment "and failure 5f thesc vasious engines and
comphcated exertions, I surely may infer more than strict”legal
innocence.”
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by the Council of Bombay. He urges unan-
swerable arguments upon this topic, with ill-
timed energy and zeal, a little time bgfore the
Philippic of 1781 appeared, a satural conse-
quence of them......... If that is not the key of
the Philippic in 1781, I call upor the advocates
for the accuser to put any other into my hand.
Jt is agreed that with full notice of all his
crimd, those who are now his persecutors, and
state those crimes against him with such acri-
mony, at least approved of his conduct; wrote
a series of letters to their delinquent minister;
to that minister, whom, if you give them credit
for their present account of him, they should not
have left at Madras for an hour in his office ; in
which they expressed no material disapprobation
of a single item in his conduct, Rut spoke of him
with regard and confidence. Nor is it less
agreed, that after the arrival of this letter, which
protested against the Mahratta war, the tables
were turned; the accuser of that war becarle in
a moment the culprit of tRose whom he accused,
and was held forth to tlte public, in a Iibel cir-
culated by the Directors, before his defence was
heard, or any charge put into form, as a pecu-
lator, a tyrant, and. a coward. The Directors,.
having published and circulated this anathema,
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“ Effegts are cruel and false arguments of
g'uilt in the gmeasures which pgofiuced them.
But here no injurious consequences have been
marked by the accuser, except Iyder’s invasion
of the Carnatic, the cause of which is at least a
political problém admitting of many solutions
I shall have occasion to demonstrate hereafter,
that Sir Thomas Rumbold was not the cause of
that war, was an enemy to what he believed the
cause of it, and pointed that enmity like a man
of honour, though it provoked a nest of hornets,
who would now sting him to death if they could.
The Council of Madras quarrelled with Bengal :
which of them was 7ight 7”.......



CHAPTER 1L

PROCEEDINGS IN PARLIAMENT AGAINST SIR THOMAS
RUMBOLD. THE BILL OF PAINS AND PENALTIES. -

THE extracts given in the last chapter have
indicated the origin of the persecution Sir
Thomas "Rumbold encountered. Some brief
account of the manner in which the proceedings
were carried on in the House of Commons is
now given from the Parliamentary Register.*

When the “Bill of Pains and Penalties
against Sir Thomas Rumbold was brought into
the House of Commons by Mr. Dundas, it was
argued by 'several members of Lhe Houqe that
the measures pursued were cruel and uncon-
stitutional ;* that they were ¢ strongly opposed
to the tribunal that was to try Sir Thomas
Rumbold, the House being the grand jury that
had found the Bill, the pebty jury that were to
try the accused, and, above all, theaccusers.”.
And’it was asked, “ How could an eguitable
decision be foynd in such a place ?

. Ha;sa;'d';s “ Parliamentary Register,” vol. xxii., pp. 114—.—13-8_,'_'
1275, 1332, 1407.
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« A tribunal where the judges were not upon
Oath it ‘was urged, was unprecedented in every
part of cthis country. The Attorney-General
protested against the manner of the ‘proceedings.
The Solicitor-General declared the proceedings
to be an extmbydinary departure from the estab-
lished laws and constitution.”...¢....Ie argued
that, < although the preamblecof the Bill only
stated there were suspicions against Sir Thomas
Rumbold, upon these suspicions that gentle-
man’s whole property was to be locked up; ”....
that ¢ the clause to compel him to give an ac-
count of his property upon. oath, on pain of
death, was an inquisition of a most tyrannic
nature, that would establish a dangérous prece-
dent, and this against a man who, in the present
stage. of the Ixisiness, must be presumed inno-
cent §veons, that these proceedings, which went
to extort proofs from a man against himself,
were repugnant to reason, justice, law, equity,
and nature.”

To these arrvumcnt‘s Mr. Fox replied, that ¢ this
was an extmordmary casc, and would justify
1 departure flom, as it was out of the reach of,
my existing law: He” (Mr. Fok) « could not
think of sending out to India to discover what
specific injuries had been done to individuals
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there;......he feared such a measure would end
in the death of such individuals who would dare
to give evidence again-st any of the ruling, powers
of the country.”’* |

On the 3rd of May, 1782, ¢ Sir Thomas Rum-

bold urged his claim to be heard by his counsel
‘against the Bills...... When he should give in
upon oath a statenlent of his property, the whole
of which lay within the dominions of Great
Britain,” he said, “it would be found it had
been greatly exaggerated.”
- Mr. Fox persisted .n assuming that Sir
Thomas RumDbold had immense wealth some-
where, which “ they ”’ (the House of Commons)
“ were to prove had been amassed by peculation :
this he desired should be forthcoming for the
purposes of .restitqtidn. ......He, then painted
the. happy consequences to our future Govern-
ment in India, from restitution thus made.”

Mr. Burke spoke in strong terms to the same
effect. ¢ Sir . Thomas Rumbold desired the
honourable Member to lay his finger upon any
part of the Bill that directly charged him with
peculation. There was a kind of implied charge
of that nature} but there was'not a direct one.

* Mr. Fox expluined thit he alluded to  case that had occurre.d.
notlong before in Beneal.

c
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Did the ‘Bill state from whom money had been
extorted ? To whom, then, could it be restored ?
It had been represented in a former debate that
the*House was acting as a grand jury finding a
Bill : he would then call upon any forty gentle-
men in thé House to declave, if they had
examined even the ex parte evidence, on which
the Resolutions of the Secret Committee against
him were founded: if they had read the Ap-
pendices (or evidence) to which these Resolu-
tions referred, and if they could as grand jurors
lay their hands upon their hearts, and declare as
gentlemen, and as honest men, that the evidence
bore out the charges: if they could not answer
this question in the aflirmative, he did not see
how they could vote for the restraining Bill in
any stagc.... .. _

“Sir Thomas Rumbold desired it might be
noted, that he claimed to be heard by his counsel
against the Bili.” < The Lord Advocate opposed
the claim of the honourable Member to be heard
in his defence. 1f hc had a right to be heard in
the present stage of the proceedings, all the
preceding steps had been wrong, and contrary to
the precedent in-the South Sea ‘¢ase, which had
been strictly copied.”

¢ 8ir Thomas Rumbold maintained that his
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case was by no means parallel to that of the
persons there concerned, since in their petition
to the House of Lords they acknowledged their
guilt ; ke, on Phg contrary, stood on his d(jfé;ce,
and maintained his innocence.”

These debates took place early in’ the Session
of 1782. |

After the interval of a twelvemonth, during
which much delay and many postponements had
been occasioned by the non-attendance of mem-
bers, witnesses, &c., on the Committee appointed
to inquire into the case; the prosecuiion was
opened in Februury, 1783, and the defence was
closed on the last day of May following.

When at the Bar of the House of Commons
it was proved what was the amount of the
property, from the restitution of which Mr. Fox
had anticipated such happy effects to the people
of India, and to the English Government, a hue
of ridicule seemed to invest the whole affair; but
the first impressions had been given, extravagant
hotions with regard to the wéalth of Sir Thomas
Rumbold had been set in e¢irculation,—all this
had been afloat for many mouths, and these first
impresgions have pursued the “eharacter of Sir

Thomas Rumbold until this time.*
In a voluminous biography of Lord Cornwallis, published
c 2
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In the ninth chapter of his fourth volume,
My. Mill has given a summary a,ccoun.t of the
Jprogeedings in Parliament, and the manner in
which the prosecution was abandoned. The
animosity which unfortunately has influenced
him .througl}out, as relates to Sir Thomas
Rumbold, has led him to depart here from' the
usual clearness of his style. The account is at
least ambiguous, and tends to give a false im-
pression. As the view set forth by Mr. Mill has
been very generally borrowed by succeeding his-
torians, the passage is repeated here, and it will
afterwards be shown how the same transactions
appear in the Parliamentary Register of the time.

““On the 9th of April, 1782,” (Mr. Mill says,)
¢« Mr. Dundas moved, that the Reports which he
had. presented. as chairman of the Secréet Commit-
tee should be referred to a Committee of the
whole House....... Articles of charge against
Sir Thomas Rumbold were adopted; and a Bill
wi:f.hin ten years, it is mel‘;tioned, among maﬁybfalse statements, as
a credible and probable fact, that Hyder Ali was bribed by Sig
Thomas Rumbold to delay the invasion of the Carnatic, 1In tha
same pubhcatlon the Secretary, Mr Redhead, is turned into Mr.
Whitehill, and represgated as beco.mmg Governer of Madras, and
is made to terminite his carcer, as Mr. Paul Benfield, in a garret

at Paris. Other writers tell us, not only that Sir Thomas Rumbold
bribed Mr. Dundas, but the whole House of Commons,
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of pains and penalties for breaches of public
trust, and high crimes and misdemeanours,
committed by him, was introduced by Mor..
Dundas. The Pl was read a first fime. Before
the second reading, Sir Thomas Rumbold was
heard in his defence. The Sessign drew to a
close before a greaj progress was made. In the
beginning of 1783, the state of the ministry was
unsettled,—and as if when ministry is unsettled,
Parliament were unequal to their functions, the
Bill was neglected till the middle of the Session.
After the middle of the Session the members soon
began to be remiss in' their attendance. And on
the 19th of December, immediately after Mr.
Fox’s coalition ministry, a motion was made and
carried for adjourning the further consideration
of the Bill till the 24th of June ext, by which
the prosecution was finally dropped. Sir Thomas
Rumbold consented to accept impunity without
acquittal ; his judges refused to proceed in his
trial afler they had solemnly @fﬁrméd the exist-
«ence of guilt; and a black stain was attached to
the character of them bo,th.’; "

In this sweeping denunciation of both judges
and aceused, which has passed current with sub-

* Tor this see Parliamentary History, vol. xxii., p. 1291 ; also,
vel, %xiii,, p.785. -
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sequent historians, Mr. Mill contradicts the ex-
press declarations of the judges to whom he
refers, as having * affirmed the existence of
guilt.” Those judges were ex‘[‘remoly cautious
in the expressions they allowed themselves to use
with regard to a “man untried, and before any
evidence had been heard.”* -When it was repre-
sented to Mr. Dundas, that the Second Report was
a mere personal charge, he spokein these terms :
—In their inquisitorial capacity it was not
their province to ascertain criminality or inflict
censure. . .. ... The whole remained to be proved
and established, beforc it assumed the weight of a
criminal charge.” And it was said by Mr. Fox,
that ¢ it would not be in¢onsistent for the House
to agree to the resolutions against Sir Thomas
Rumibold, in“their inquisiforial capacity, and
afterwards, when he came to throw fresh licht on
the evidence by his defence, for them, in a judicial
capacity, to alter their opinion.” It is still
more important te notice th_at' in the passage
quoted above, Mr. Mill has afirmed that, before:
the close of the Session ef 1782, the Bill was read
a second time, Sir Thomas Rumbold having been
previously heurd in his defence. But the case
was not so. The counsel -for the prosecution
# Parliamentary History, vol. xxii., p. 1262.
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and for the defence were not heard until the
Session of 1783, and upon what is called the
second readmo' of the Bill. The defence.
followed the qc!tond reading : and, as it will
presently be shown, the procecdings, after the
evidence was heard, were immedigtely arrcsted.
Mr. Mill subjoins, jn a note, quotations from the
speeches of Mr. Dundas and Mr. Fox, of the
2nd of May, 1783, in which the former com-
plained of the thin attendance of members. <« If
it was the intention of the Ilouse to drop the
business, he wished to De made acquainted with
that circumstance,”* &e. “Mr. Fox declared
that to drop the Bill would be productive of the
most fatal consequences; and thercfore he re-
quested gentlemen would, for the eredit, honour,
and interest of their country, #ttend ‘to the
evidence for and against the Bill. If the Bill
should be lost for want of attendance, it would
not clear the character of Sir Thomas Rumbold;
on the other hand, it would hold out this idea
to the people of India, that it was vain for them
to expect redress of theiy gr iev rances in England.”
It 1s quite true that Mr. Yox said, < If flie Bill
were lost from want of attendmnce, it would not
clear the character of Sir Thomas Rumbold ;
anll the. import of those words was perfectly
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just; but their bearing upon the case would
have been totally different if, as Mr. Mill’s
guotation would lead us to suppose, in that stage
of the proceedings the Bill had been suddenly
and unaccountably dropped; there woaild then
have been ground for much surmise.to account
for this circumstance. It was on the 2nd of
May that these words were sﬁoken, and at that
time the evidence against the Bill had scarcely
been gone into. On the 30th of May the cvi-
dence was closed ; the subject which engaged the
House on that day was the proofs from whence
the money remitted to England by Sir Thomas
Rumbold had been drawn. Until that timec,
although therc had been much delay, the zeal of
the prosccutors had not relaxed, as Mr. Mill’s
quotations plginly show. On the 2nd of June
the subject was resumed, when a great change is
apparent in the tone of every mecmber who
spoke.

However there may still have existed political
animosity, it may" fairly be asserted that of
the charge of corruption Sir Thomas Rumbold
was abgolved in the mind of that portion of the
House who had listened tothe evidence. Several
members spoke of the hardship and cruelty of
prolonging the business for another year, and



